## - H E N F \ \ | N S T | [ U T c

REPORT

# URBAN DATA SHARING FOR THE PUBLIC INTEREST

**THE NEW HANSE APPROACH TO DATA SHARING** By Andreas Pawelke, 9 September 2022

### -HE NF\\ INSTIFUTE

#### CONTENTS

1. Introduction	2
2. Context	3
2.1. Data Governance vs. Data Sharing	3
2.2. The Rationale	5
2.3. The (Policy) Debate around Data Sharing	5
3. Building Blocks	7
3.1. Actors & Roles	7
3.2. Data & Access	8
3.3. Governance & Policy	9
3.4. Legal Requirements & Regulatory Frameworks	10
3.5. Platforms, Processes, Privacy	10
4. Shaping The New Hanse	11
4.1. Design	11
4.2. Process	12

#### 1. INTRODUCTION

Much of the data that is critical for addressing societal challenges sits with a very small number of organizations,<sup>1</sup> mostly private companies.

While there is higher public awareness of the opportunities that data sharing could unlock than only a few years ago, the debate has so far largely focused on abstract frameworks, models and structures.<sup>2</sup>

Practical applications, let alone institutionalized sharing arrangements, are rare—even at the city level, where data plays an increasingly central role in areas such as traffic flow management, infrastructure design, and sustainable mobility planning.

Various documents outline the pros and cons of different data sharing models,<sup>3</sup> but none provide a tested, proven and easy-to-use approach to share data in cities among actors from the private, public, and third sectors.

The New Hanse (TNH), an initiative of the Hamburg-based The New Institute (TNI), was launched in 2021 to fill this gap. The initiative seeks to generate a blueprint for urban data sharing that outlines the major legal, policy and technological building blocks needed for safe, secure, and responsible data sharing in cities.

To accomplish this goal, TNI has partnered with the city of Hamburg and its Chief Digital Office, the Urban Data Platform, and the Traffic and Mobility Transition Authority to develop, test, and refine a data-sharing arrangement that facilitates access to mobility data held by private companies.<sup>4</sup>

The overall guiding question of the initiative is: How might we make data held by private companies accessible to third parties to be used for the public interest? TNH is focusing on cities as the geographic unit and mobility data as the domain of interest.

This report presents the most-discussed data sharing models, along with insights from previous pilots and research into data sharing structures and processes. It also presents learnings from early engagements with TNH partners and collaborators. The report then describes the current approach of TNH, situating it within the wider data-sharing landscape. While the focus of TNH is on business-to-government data sharing, the initiative seeks to contribute to the wider debate on data sharing for the public interest, thereby investigating the challenge of bridging aspirations to share data for individual,

collective, and societal benefits with concerns about negative implications for privacy and competitiveness.<sup>5</sup>

#### 2. CONTEXT

#### 2.1. Data Governance vs. Data Sharing

The value of data can increase exponentially if it is shared and combined with other sources of data.<sup>6</sup> However, data held by the private sector is rarely accessible to governments and other organizations for use in addressing societal challenges.<sup>7</sup> The lack of effective, responsible data-sharing initiatives points to more-foundational challenges in the realm of data governance.

Data governance can be defined as the set of laws, policies, regulations, authorities, and decision-making structures and processes that guide how governments, companies and other actors collect, share and use data.<sup>8</sup> Data governance is sometimes referred to as the "second wave of the data revolution,"<sup>8</sup> with the first wave having focused more on the use of new types of digital data (sometimes referred to as big data or non-traditional data) by businesses than on questions of how data should be governed, managed, and made accessible to third parties.

In recent years, a flurry of models, approaches, and mechanisms have been proposed. These have been labeled as alternative data governance, data sharing models or data access mechanisms.<sup>9, 3, 10</sup> Currently, confusion and ambiguity abound regarding concepts like data commons, data cooperatives, and data trusts—leading to people using specific individual concepts in more than one way and with multiple meanings.<sup>11</sup>

Although clearing up that confusion is not the aim of this report, it is worth highlighting the growing awareness among experts that drives much of the development of these new approaches and models:<sup>12</sup> the need to look at the collective, rather than only the individual, level when conceptualizing better ways to govern (personal) data.

The relational nature of data—other people's data can affect us as much as the data we generate ourselves—requires rethinking individual consent as the dominant mechanism currently used to govern the use of the data we produce.<sup>13</sup> Certain forms of data trusts, for example, seek to address this problem by removing binary, often ill-informed consent mechanisms and the need to assert individual data rights through complex legal processes by

introducing data intermediaries or stewards, thereby removing the traditional link between data collection and control.<sup>12</sup>

A variety of models for data governance, sharing, and access have emerged during the past few years. The most prominent are described below.

A commons is a system to govern and use a shared or common-pool resource. In a **data commons**, a group of actors collectively manage data as a shared resource. Some data commons are openly shared, while others are kept private; some of the private types exist to generate revenue from selling (some of) the data or the insights generated from it. The concept of the commons when applied to data should be used as a metaphor rather than an analytical construct, because traditional commons concern tangible, rival goods, whereas data is intangible and non-rivalrous.<sup>14</sup>

The notion of a **data cooperative** refers to the voluntary collaborative pooling by individuals of their (personal) data for the benefit of the membership of a larger group or community.<sup>15</sup> Data cooperatives are based on contractual arrangements that make them easier to set up than other structures. They are well suited for the empowerment of groups of individuals,<sup>16</sup> because the pooling of participants' respective individual data provides them with collective (bargaining) power they would otherwise be unable to secure.

In a **data trust**, a third party is appointed as a fiduciary to govern, manage, and make decisions in the best interests of those providing the data. This requires that trustees act with undivided loyalty in pursuing the best interests of the trust's beneficiaries, with a fiduciary duty considered the highest level of obligation that one party can owe to another.<sup>17</sup>

The term "data trust" is currently used to describe multiple different approaches to data governance and data sharing. A narrow definition describes a data trust as "a mechanism for individuals to pool their data rights into an organization that: provides independent stewardship of those data rights; embeds fiduciary responsibilities in its ways of working; operates within a framework of institutional safeguards; and facilitates collective action."<sup>18</sup> A broader definition goes beyond the individual to include organizations as the central actors in data sharing, referring to data trusts as "repeatable framework of terms and mechanisms [...] to facilitate the sharing of data between organizations holding data and organizations looking to use such data."<sup>19</sup>

Like the other models described above, **data collaboratives** are a new form of cross-sector, public-private partnership designed to leverage (often corporate)

data in ways that enable its use in addressing societal challenges. The term "data collaboratives" emphasizes the process of collaboration between parties, going beyond the mere sharing of data.<sup>20</sup> The focus of data collaboratives is on private-public data sharing, but the data in a collaborative may come from a range of sources, including nonprofit and academic organizations.

#### 2.2. The Rationale

Data has been described as the world's most valuable resource—but this is not due only to data's economic value.<sup>21</sup>In fact, several of society's greatest challenges require greater data access, more collaboration, and increased analytical abilities.<sup>22</sup>

Calculating the value of data is inherently difficult.<sup>23</sup> The extent to which data's value increases when it is shared is even more difficult to determine, as its value is largely unknown until it has been used for a particular purpose (data as an experience good). What's more, the value of data does not come from a single dataset, but from combining datasets that have different sources.<sup>24</sup> There are at least three different rationales for actors to share data:

**Economic**: Data is a key ingredient in businesses' value creation processes. Wider access to data through sharing arrangements can help advance business innovation and therefore drive economic growth. Some experts suggest making data sharing mandatory for large tech firms, to allow start-ups to use such data to build products and businesses, thereby increasing competition in certain markets.<sup>25</sup>

**Public/Environmental/Social**: The value of better access to data is not purely economic, but arises when "governments deliver more effective public services; when our environment is clean and diverse; and when people live happier and healthier lives."<sup>26</sup>

**Fairness/Justice/Power**: Power asymmetries embedded in our social relationships can be compounded through poorly governed use of data.<sup>16</sup> Making (user-generated) data more widely accessible so that it can be managed by intermediaries and/or trusts can help shift power away from data collectors (companies) and toward data subjects (citizens).<sup>27</sup>

#### 2.3. The (Policy) Debate around Data Sharing

The debate around data sharing (and data governance more generally) has shifted over the years, from being mostly focused on data philanthropy and the

voluntary sharing of data by companies,<sup>28</sup> to increasing calls for mandatory data sharing:<sup>29</sup> requiring companies to share some of their data with government and other actors that pursue public interest goals. In addition, as growing amounts of data are constantly collected while we go about our lives, we increasingly realize that we are connected by data and that we need collective governance arrangements to account for the ways in which other people's data affects us.<sup>30</sup>

Despite recent advances on the policy (and legal) front, barriers remain high for private-to-public data sharing. Reasons frequently highlighted in research,<sup>2,</sup> <sup>24, 31</sup> and confirmed in discussions with potential data providers in Hamburg, include the following:

- A lack of trust, which is also due to the lack of viable operational models and secure technical systems that would enable safe and reliable data sharing.
- Unclear benefits, as data sharing collaborations often cannot be directly monetized by a data supplier.
- Perceived reputational, commercial, and legal risks, such as the fear that sharing data will cause companies to lose their competitive advantage.
- Public bodies lack knowledge, time, and human resources to either identify valuable datasets or find the capacity to process them.
- Ex ante financial costs (including costs associated with identifying appropriate data sharing partners, brokering contractual arrangements, reformatting data, and setting up sharing infrastructures). In our discussions, potential data providers often cited these costs as a reason for their hesitation to explore data-sharing opportunities.
- Fears that data sharing could interfere with a company's datamonetization strategy.
- Commercial confidentiality and the risk of information leaking to competitors.
- Lack of clarity regarding how shared data will actually be put to use and whether it will benefit citizens, customers, or the city.
- Data protection concerns.

The research shows that in many cases, data sharing is not enabled by philanthropy or corporate social responsibility (CSR) considerations, but is instead propelled by companies being required to share data because of procurement rules and regulations, licensing requirements, or some other (legal) obligation.

#### 3. BUILDING BLOCKS

The choice of the right data-sharing model should not be the starting point of the scoping or inception phase of a data-sharing initiative. Rather than first asking whether a data trust, a data cooperative, a data collaborative, or any other model is most suited, a sharing initiative should consider using the following building blocks to find answers to questions about actors, access mechanisms, and governance, as well as legal and technological requirements.

#### 3.1. Actors & Roles

The actors and their roles can vary greatly depending on the purpose of a datasharing initiative and its specific embedded context. In business-togovernment data sharing, there are two main types of actors: government and business. Although this may seem straightforward, it rarely is, given the different interests, cultures, and requirements of the different ministries, departments, and units involved on a government's part. The same is true on the business side. When more than one company become involved as data providers, the complexity of the legal, technical, and governance arrangements increases exponentially.

Not only the number of actors can vary from one data-sharing initiative to another, but also the roles they may take on. For example, in business-togovernment data sharing, governments can 1) operate at the receiving end, making use of the provided data by the private sector to improve public services; 2) act as data intermediary, gathering, processing and distributing the data to users; 3) share data itself with users outside of government; and 4) any combination of all three. Moreover, governments can play various other roles as regulators and enablers that set the conditions for a data-sharing initiative.

Unlike businesses and other actors involved in data-sharing initiatives, governments are required to promote the public good by ensuring that data sharing, in whatever form, benefits society and not just a few players. The role of companies in a business-to-government data-sharing initiative is more straightforward. In most scenarios, companies' sole task is to share data with public-sector entities. However, they can also be at the receiving end, getting access in exchange to government data, and/or access to data shared by other companies if more than one company is involved.

However, what drives companies to participate in a data-sharing initiative? How can businesses be incentivized to share data? Our findings and existing research point to the following reasons companies might be willing to do so:<sup>24, 31</sup>

### - H E N F \ \ I N S T I F U T E

- Bartering for data: Through the WAZE Connected Citizens Program,<sup>32</sup> the company engages in a two-way data exchange with cities, in which real-time traffic data is exchanged for private data.
- Fair compensation/tax incentives: Companies incur costs to make data available, including time and resources for preparing the data, adapting it to the specific request, and building the infrastructure necessary for its transmission (e.g., APIs). For business-to-government data sharing to become sustainable, these initiatives need to become mutually beneficial. These incentive types have also been highlighted in our discussions with companies.
- Improved government services and public infrastructure: Some micromobility data companies we spoke with have placed particular emphasis on this, arguing that they will share data if it helps improve, for example, the city's bicycle infrastructure to meet their customers' needs.
- CSR: Contributing to the common good can be part of a company's CSR program, and may be beneficial to its reputation.
- Gaining new insights: Opening up data informs research and decisionmaking; it can help generate and enhance products and services based on demands and real needs.
- Mandatory data sharing/procurement requirements: The city of Barcelona ties its licenses for shared mobility enterprises that operate in public spaces to the sharing of specific data regarding vehicle status, location, and so on.
- Building relationships: Increasing collaboration with the public administration, as well as improving prospects for procurement or subsidies.

#### 3.2. Data & Access

While the types of actors involved and their roles are somewhat limited, the kinds of data we generally refer to when we talk about data sharing—and the different ways of enabling access to data (or their analytical products)—are much broader.

The data types in data-sharing initiatives range from highly personal data to non-personal data, from big to small, from fully open data with no or very limited access restrictions, to data that is accessible to a very few actors only, and so on. Data may come from public, commercial, and private sources. Some data types are covered by contractual arrangements, whereas others are

governed by legal requirements or specific authorizations, such as medical data.

Depending on what data are shared, and how they are shared, there need to be appropriate models and mechanisms in place to protect privacy, IP rights, and/or the competitiveness of involved businesses.

Notably, in data-sharing initiatives, it is not necessarily the data itself that is shared, but it may also be the in-house data analysis that is shared with external actors.

For non-personal data and data not under IP rights, management may be best achieved through horizontal (or inter-organizational) agreements. In some cases, the most useful sharing may be achieved via a data commons framework, with appropriate access accreditation mechanisms. In such cases, there is no need to introduce complex intermediary models or data trust-like setups.<sup>12</sup>

#### 3.3. Governance & Policy

The governance and policy dimension deals with the what, who and how of rule-setting and rule enforcement in data sharing initiatives. There are a number of ways to decide who gets access and under what terms, which are the defining criteria of the models introduced above e.g. delegated/ intermediated models like data trusts or collective decision-making like data cooperatives.

Even if actors and their roles are defined and the data to be shared is determined, a whole set of questions remain around the ways decisions are made about how stakeholders govern themselves, who can make decisions about data access, and under what conditions data are shared. A nonexhaustive list of decisions that need to be made is provided below:

- In what ways and for what purposes are users allowed to use the data?
- Who makes decisions about providing access to the data? On the basis of what rules and procedures do they make those decisions?
- Who controls the data (and deals with maintenance and quality assurance)?
- What are the expenses involved in managing the data? In addition, who pays for infrastructure, platforms, and maintenance?
- Are any of the responsibilities delegated?

### - H E N F \ \ I N S T I F U T E

- How can improper use of the data be sanctioned?
- Under what business model does the data-sharing initiative operate to ensure ongoing financial sustainability?
- How are the benefits that arise from the data sharing and use fairly distributed among the stakeholders?

#### 3.4. Legal Requirements & Regulatory Frameworks

Legal requirements and regulatory frameworks play important roles in datasharing initiatives. They can restrict or even prohibit certain data-sharing arrangements, and provide general guidance on which data can be shared under what conditions. Both general legislation, such as the General Data Protection Regulation and Competition Law, and sector-specific rules, such as rules and regulation for the mobility sector, need to be taken into account.

Moreover, local-level regulations like the Hamburg Transparency Law that may prohibit special-access arrangements for data that otherwise would be made available as open data, as well as national and EU-level regulation like the Data Governance Act and data licensing requirements, will need to be analyzed based on the specific needs and requirements of a given data-sharing initiative.

A review of the legal and regulatory frameworks relevant to place (Hamburg), data (largely non-personal) and sector (shared mobility) is currently under way for TNH.

#### 3.5. Platforms, Processes, Privacy

An entire set of technology solutions are needed for data sharing to be safe and secure, while at the same time effective. These solutions are summarized below into platforms, processes, and mechanisms for data privacy and protection.

A **technology platform** is needed for data to be stored, maintained, and shared with users based on different access rights. Data can be shared in several ways: using a centralized approach where access is provided through a single platform; via a federated approach where the data remains with its data providers and is accessed using agreed and shared interfaces, standards and protocols; or through a decentralized approach where all parties involved hold parts of the data. Stakeholders also need to agree on who is in charge of the platform, who maintains it, and who pays for its operation.

**Processes** need to be in place for data production, sharing, and use, including ongoing validation and verification of data quality and integrity, along with monitoring access and use.

Solutions need to be implemented to preserve **privacy**, **IP rights**, **and competitiveness**, through aggregation and/or anonymization or varying types and levels of access. These differ based on the types of data being shared (see Data & Access). Data aggregation and anonymization can enable certain forms of analysis that otherwise might not be feasible due to privacy limitations. However, the risk of re-identification of individuals remains even for aggregated and/or anonymized data.

#### 4. SHAPING THE NEW HANSE

There are no off-the-shelf solutions for the right data sharing model. Choosing and designing an appropriate model requires making a series of large and small decisions related to the dimensions outlined above (and potentially others). Rather than selecting a particular data sharing model and adjusting it to the context and the requirements, starting with the intended outcome (the why) and working through the individual building blocks will be more effective.

#### 4.1. Design

The New Hanse has identified and/or put in place a number of initial building blocks to implement a data-sharing initiative for micro-mobility data. Using the five dimensions provided above, the status quo of TNH can be described as follows:

Actors & Roles: The city of Hamburg wants companies operating in the city to share data with the municipal government, and potentially with third parties. The goal of such sharing is to serve the public interest and drive smart(er) regulation, such as carbon footprint assessments and moving toward zero-emissions city logistics. The different roles the city might take on (provider, intermediary, user) are yet to be determined. Working with the departments in charge of data governance and mobility, a minimum of two private companies (mobility service providers) will act as data providers; third parties, including NGOs and academic partners, might also form part of the data-sharing initiative. TNI takes the role of an advisor and enabler to help design, implement and document the initiative, and facilitate data sharing among the partners.

**Data & Access**: The focus of TNH is on business-to-government data sharing, with floating shared mobility services and bicycle data as the initial data of interest. Access mechanisms, rules, and arrangements are currently under investigation and in discussion with stakeholders.

**Governance & Policy**: Governance might be rather straightforward, given the limited number of actors involved, and given the horizontal rather than vertical sharing arrangement of the existing data.<sup>16</sup> The detailed governance and policy mechanisms are yet to be determined.

**Legal Requirements & Regulatory Frameworks**: A legal expert is currently reviewing and analyzing the applicable legal requirements and regulatory frameworks at the EU, national, and local levels.

**Technology:** A suitable data management and sharing platform (the Urban Data Platform) exists within the city government; relevant data production, sharing, and use processes, as well as privacy, IP rights, and competitiveness-preserving solutions are being discussed.

#### 4.2. Process

The way in which a workable data sharing arrangement is achieved is as important as the ultimate choice and combination of its building blocks. The main components of the process behind the design and implementation at TNH are:

- Start small by focusing on horizontal, business-to-government sharing of non-personal data, with a limited number of data providers and users, while being able to increase the scope (and complexity) by potentially integrating personal data, additional data providers, and new users, along with other forms of (vertical) data sharing mechanisms.
- Integrate specialized expertise on legal, technological, and governance questions from both the stakeholders involved (city, TNI, and companies) and external experts.
- Leverage the knowledge and experience of the international data sharing (and data governance) community via a working-group format.
- Use the data innovation challenge method to attract a variety of data users to identify and apply shared mobility services and bicycle data in Hamburg.<sup>33</sup>

### -HE NF\\ INSTIFUTE

• Document the process and related findings to create a unified, scalable, and reproducible framework for urban data sharing.

Acknowledgements: I would like to thank Lion Rackow and Katharina Meyer for their inputs and review of this document, as well as Adriana Groh, Simon Höher, Francesca Bria, Oleguer Sagarra, and Ariane Haase for the help and assistance they have provided. Any errors that remain are my sole responsibility.

#### 5. END NOTES

- Mulgan, Geoff (2016): A New Family of Data Commons?, London: Nesta [online], https://media.nesta.org.uk/documents/anewfamilyofdatacommons.pdf
- 2 Latouzé, Emmanuel and Oliver, Nuria (2019): Sharing is Caring: Four Key Requirements for Sustainable Private Data Sharing and Use for Public Good, New York City: Data-Pop Alliance [online], http://datapopalliance.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/11/DPA\_VFI-SHARING-IS-CARING.pdf
- 3 Pawelke, Andi (2020): Daten teilen, aber wie? Ein Panorama der Datenteilungsmodelle, Gütersloh: Bertelsmann Stiftung [online], doi: 10.11586/2020079, https://www.bertelsmannstiftung.de/fileadmin/files/user\_upload/Expertise\_Daten\_teilen\_\_aber \_wie\_final.pdf
- 4 Amt für IT und Digitalisierung (2022, 1 July): *Eine Partnerschaft für die digitale Zukunft*, https://digital.hamburg.de/digitale-stadt/the-new-institute-kooperation-441428
- 5 Data Trusts Initiative (2020): *Data Trusts: from theory to practice,* https://static1.squarespace.com/static/5e3b09f0b754a35dcb4111ce/t/5fd b21f9537b3a6ff2315429/1608196603713/Working+Paper+1+-+data+trusts+-+from+theory+to+practice.pdf
- 6 Symons, Tom and Bertoncin, Camilla (2020): *Data Sharing Toolkit: Approaches, guidance and resources to unlock the value of data,* https://media.nesta.org.uk/documents/Data\_sharing\_toolkit.pdf

- 7 European Commission (2020): Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions Youth Opportunities Initiative. *A European strategy for data*, https://eurlex.europa.eu/legalcontent/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:52020DC0066&from=EN
- 8 Lucas, Sarah (2022): From data revolutionary to data governance advocate and back again: Three lessons from the journey, Menlo Park: The William and Flora Hewlett Foundation [online], https://hewlett.org/from-data-revolutionary-to-data-governanceadvocate-and-back-again-three-lessons-from-the-journey/
- 9 Mozilla Insights (2021): Data Futures Lab Glossary Key terms and concepts for our work explained, https://foundation.mozilla.org/en/data-futures-lab/data-forempowerment/readme-about-this-research/
- 10 Open Data Institute: *Mapping the wide world of data sharing,* https://theodi.org/project/the-data-access-map/#1565707693092cb23ffc9-ca4b
- 11 Keller, Jared R. (2018): Data Access Archipelago: mapping the myriad ways we share data, London: Open Data Insitute [online], https://theodi.org/article/data-access-archipelago-mapping-themyriad-ways-we-share-data/
- 12 The Alan Turing Institute and Jesus College Intellectual Forum (2019, 23 September): Data Trusts, https://az551914.vo.msecnd.net/turingacuk-ap7zg/files/datatrusts-23septat9jan.pdf?1579608631917&\_cldee=amFjay50YXJkaW5nZXNAdGhlb2R pLm9yZw%3D%3D&recipientid=contactbfce7509a09ce811814270106faae7f1c45479e0841549f7ab1a5df63f6d4f77&esid=fb5a5344-463c-ea11-a812-002248076b40
- Pawelke, Andreas, Bellavista, Gaia and Liu, Shumin (2021): Rethinking Data Governance at UNDP, https://medium.com/@undp.innovation/rethinking-data-governanceat-undp-274be074f690

- Coyle, Diane (2020, 30 October): Common governance of data:
  appropriate models for collective and individual rights, London:
  Nuffield Foundation [online],
  https://www.adalovelaceinstitute.org/blog/common-governance-of-data/
- Hardjono, Thomas and Pentland, Alex (2019): Data Cooperatives: Towards a Foundation for Decentralized Personal Data Management, Cambridge: MIT Connection Science [online], https://arxiv.org/pdf/1905.08819.pdf
- Data Trusts Initiative (2020, 27 March): Selecting a data sharing structure: a value-based choice, https://datatrusts.uk/blogs/selectingdatastructures
- 17 Hardinges, Jack (2020, 17 March): *Data trusts in 2020*, London: Open Data Insitute [online], https://theodi.org/article/data-trusts-in-2020/
- Data Trusts Initiative (2021): Data trusts: international perspectives on the development of data institutions, https://static1.squarespace.com/static/5e3b09f0b754a35dcb4111ce/t/60 3ce3325e1da817afe6b193/1614603061204/WP+2+-+DTI+-+global+perspectives.pdf
- Delacroix, Sylvie and Lawrence, Neil (2018): Bottom-Up Data Trusts: Disturbing the 'One Size Fits All' Approach to Data Governance, *International data privacy law*, 9(4), 236-252, [online] https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract\_id=3265315
- Susha, Iryna; Janssen, Marijn and Verhulst, Stefaan (2017): Data collaboratives as a new frontier of cross-sector partnerships in the age of open data: Taxonomy development, https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/4682/85434d7eb14fo61offaf6a6fod591 286e9ac.pdf
- 21 Beddoes, Susan M. (2017, 6 May): *The world's most valuable resource*, London: The Economist Group [online], https://www.economist.com/weeklyedition/2017-05-06
- Verhulst, Stefaan and Sangokoya, David (2015): Data Collaboratives: Exchanging Data to Improve People's Lives, https://sverhulst.medium.com/data-collaboratives-exchanging-datato-improve-people-s-lives-dofcfc1bdd9a

- 23 Coyle, Diane and Manley, Annabel (2022): *What is the Value of Data? A review of empirical methods*, Cambridge: The Bennett Insitute for Public Policy [online], https://www.bennettinstitute.cam.ac.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2022/07/policy-brief\_what-is-the-value-of-data.pdf
- 24 Europäische Kommission, Generaldirektion Kommunikationsnetze, Inhalte und Technologien, (2021). Towards a European strategy on business-to-government data sharing for the public interest : final report prepared by the High-Level Expert Group on Business-to-Government Data Sharing, https://www.euractiv.com/wpcontent/uploads/sites/2/2020/02/B2GDataSharingExpertGroupReport -1.pdf
- 25 Prüfer, Jens (2020): *Die Datenteilungspflicht. Innovation und fairer Wettbewerb auf datengetriebenen Märkten*, Bonn: Friedrich-Ebert-Stiftung [online], https://library.fes.de/pdf-files/fes/15990.pdf
- Coyle, Diane; Diepeveen, Stephanie; Wdowin, Julia; Tennison, Jeni and Lawrence, Kay (2020): *The Value of Data: Summary report 2020*, Cambridge: The Bennett Insitute for Public Policy [online], https://www.bennettinstitute.cam.ac.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2020/12/Value\_of\_data\_summary\_report\_26\_Feb.pdf
- 27 Cañares, Michael (2019): *What do we mean by data empowerment?,* https://medium.com/data-empowerment/what-do-we-mean-by-dataempowerment-f842ef9880b
- 28 Kirkpatrick, Robert (2013): *A New Type of Philanthropy: Donating Data*, Brighton: Havard Business Review [online], https://hbr.org/2013/03/anew-type-of-philanthropy-don
- 29 Mazzucato, Mariana (2018): Let's make private data into a public good. The internet giants depend on our data. A new relationship between us and them could deliver real value to society, Cambridge: MIT Technology Review [online], https://www.technologyreview.com/2018/06/27/141776/lets-makeprivate-data-into-a-public-good/
- 30 Connected By Data: *We are connected by data our data is about other people too*, https://connectedbydata.org/problems/connected

- 31 European Commission (2022, 17 August): Business-to-government data sharing: Questions and answers, https://digitalstrategy.ec.europa.eu/en/faqs/business-government-data-sharingquestions-and-answers#ecl-inpage-business-to-government-(b2g)data-sharing
- 32 See https://www.waze.com/en/wazeforcities#/wazeforcities%20:data
- 33 UNDP (2021): *Ministry of Data Handbook: A guide to run successful data innovation challenges*, https://innovation.eurasia.undp.org/wpcontent/uploads/2021/11/UNDP-MoD-Handbook-Nov-2021.pdf